
YORK TOWN BOARD MEETING 

July 8th, 2025 

7:00 p.m. 

 

Present: Supervisor Gerald L. Deming, Councilmembers: Amos Smith, Jason Swede,     

              John Morgan and Frank Rose Jr. 

 

Absent: None 

 

Others: Dwight Kanyuck (Town Attorney), Bryan Scott (Dept. Highway Supt) Scott 

Hulburt, George Worden Jr. (Highway Supt), Cindy & Walter Pond, Joe McIlroy, Cecilia 

& David Deuel, Sue Ackley, Frances & Neil Frood, Carl Peter (Zoning/Code Officer), 

Rev. Michelle Sumption and Kirk Richenberg. 

 

Supervisor Deming opened the Town Board meeting at 7:00 p.m. and invited Attorney 

Kanyuck to lead in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

MINUTES: 

RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Swede and seconded by Mr. Smith to approve the minutes 

of the June 10th and June 24th Town Board meetings. Voted on and approved, Yes-5,  

No-0. 

 

 

BILLS: 

RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Morgan to approve all claims 

brought before the Board.  Voted on and approved, Yes-5, No-0. 

 

• General Fund Claim                 # 174-204               $105,633.14 

• Consolidated Water/Sewer      # 165-191                $  25,006.82 

• Highway Fund                         # 114-129                $  99,490.88 

• Youth Fund                              #15-17                     $    1,263.57 

 

 

 

PRIVILEGES OF THE FLOOR: 

1)Frances “Franny” Frood: 

Mrs. Frood began her privileges by commenting that tonight’s conversation is a follow up 

from last months meeting pertaining to the need for continuation of food programs to area 

families.  

 

Mrs. Frood started by gauging the Boards response to her question of: If you were to go 

to the grocery store to buy 4 staple grocery items, (1 gallon of milk, 1 loaf of bread, 1 jar 

of peanut butter and 1 jar of jelly) what do you think the cost would be for a family for 

these four items?  Each Board member responded with their amount, to which Mrs. Frood 

replied, for Tops’ brand items, the cost would be $12.00-13.00 and name brands $15-

16.00.  



 

 



 



 
Mrs. Frood stated Congress passed the bill affecting previously supported Federal 

programs as it pertains to food insecurity and stated that they may not believe there is an 

issue, but food insecurity does exist and certainly exists in this community like many 

other areas. Mrs. Frood reiterated the questions, are you willing to form a community 

food program committee to discuss these needs?  She added, we have volunteers who are 

willing to assist. 

 

Supervisor Deming responded by saying he cannot speak for the rest of the Board, but he 

is willing to meet to discuss what potentially can be done as a Board.  

 



Councilman Morgan stated he agrees with Supervisor Deming that he is not sure what 

specifically we can do as a Board but would be willing to sit down to discuss further 

options. Mr. Morgan commented, as a Deputy with the Livingston County Sheriff’s 

Department, he dealt with on a number of occasions, the public abusing and/or misusing 

these funds.  

 

Mrs. Pond commented as a Clinical Social Worker for 30 years she has witnessed 

firsthand the need for these programs. 

 

Supervisor Deming added he receives weekly emails from the Sheriff’s Department 

listing arrests for SNAP misuse in our county but understands that there are others who 

truly need the services. 

 

Mrs. Frood replied she agrees with Mr. Deming that there are those that misuse the 

services but there are many, many more that desperately need it. 

 

Councilman Morgan stated once again his willingness to sit down to discuss what can be 

done. 

 

 

 

 

 

2)Cindy Pond: 

 

 



 



 



 



 
Supervisor Deming inquired if York Central School had the breakfast program this year 

for the students? 

 

 *Sue Ackley responded that the school did have the breakfast program this year, 

but we are unsure if it is in the budget for next year. 

 

 

NOTE: Supervisor Deming received an email on July 9, 2025 after the Board meeting 

from David Deuel stating “it appears the free breakfast/lunch program is funded for the 

2025-2026 year”. 

 

 

 

 

3)David Deuel: 

Mr. Deuel stated what has been discussed at previous meetings and again this evening is 

“brain storming sessions” to include representatives from the York & Leicester Town 

Boards as well as the Village of Leicester and a representative from the school. 

 

Mr. Deuel stated he agrees with Supervisor Deming and Councilman Morgan that we 

should sit down to discuss ideas on how to assist those in need in our community. 

 



 



 
 

Supervisor Deming asked Mr. Deuel if he was willing to spear head this committee, 

which Mr. Deuel replied he is not, but would be willing to assist if needed.  Mr. Deuel 

also commented that he did have a conversation with a school board member as well 

expressing the need to figure out how best to assist our community, and to get all parties 

involved in the process. 

 



 

 

4)Kirk Richenberg: 

Mr. Richenberg asked to speak with the Board this evening on the following topics: 

Solar and Highway questions.  

 

 Q- Do we have a running tally of the $40,000 for legal and engineering fees? 

Attorney Kanyuck replied zero money has been used thus far and the Town actually 

allocated $60,000. 

  

 Q- Are there negotiations still to be done? 

Supervisor Deming responded, yes there are negotiations still ahead and some of which 

are on the agenda tonight. Attorney Kanyuck added, the developer is doing a detailed 

design, and the engineering firm will review the drawings.  

 

 Q- Are we still looking at 135mw? 

Attorney Kanyuck replied that we are still at 135 megawatts between the 2 Towns. 

 

 Q-Is there anything in the agreement regarding any other funds that won’t go 

through the PILOT? 

Supervisor Deming answered no but did add that there are funds specifically for the Fire 

Departments. 

 

Carl Peter stated the solar company is purchasing equipment for both fire departments 

(York & Cuylerville), with York’s portion roughly totaling $100,000. 

 

 Q- With the other 2 solar projects, under Section 94-c in the permitting program 

for large scale projects, there was a 10% reduction in electric bills, is there anything like 

that for this project? 

Attorney Kanyuck replied that previous Section 94-c is now referred to as Article 8, and 

as far as a reduction, probably not, because this will be more traditional, like a power 

plant. 

 

 Q- The schedule of revenue projections that I reviewed does not add up correctly. 

Based on the chart prepared, (outlining the Host Benefit Agreement, PILOT and Land), 

for property tax year 25 at $3,000 per mw, it states the Town would get $404,000, this is 

not accurate. 

 

Attorney Kanyuck answered that he prepared the calculations and knows they are correct. 

The chart prepared is based on the total project of 135 MW, which is a combination of 

the Towns of York & Leicester, which we have a percentage of.  

 

 Q- Regarding the invasive species matter discussed at the June meeting, did that 

get excavated? 

Highway Supt. Worden replied it did get excavated. 

 



Comment: Mr. Richenberg stated that it has returned and asked what will be done now? 

Mr. Worden answered he is not sure at this point. The County has it too and has not 

addressed it. 

 

Councilman Rose and Swede stated these programs are being cut, which includes the 

hogweed program as well. 

 

 Q- What is the status of the 10-wheeler? 

Mr. Worden reported that the information we have received states it will be coming in 

September. We are waiting on the box. 

 

Councilman Smith inquired if we could go elsewhere, which Mr. Worden replied all are 

backed up, so we unfortunately will have to wait. 

 

 

 

HIGHWAY REPORT: 

Mr. Worden reported the following for the Highway Department: 

• Retsof Ave., Tenth Street and Evans Ave. have been paved, and we are now 

waiting for it to harden fully before driveway aprons are put down. Shoulders will 

be next, weather permitting. 

• With the recent rainstorm, Dow Road pipe was washed out which took a couple 

of days to correct. York Landing Road was also affected. 

• Cowan Road west project for paving will be the last project of the year, other 

areas will need to be completed first. 

 

 

WATER/SEWER REPORT: 

Mr. Worden reported the following for the Water and Sewer Department: 

• The pumps have been keeping up well through the hot spells 

• The engineers are working on the pump station, checking and conducting 

calculating regarding pump flows, as well as monitoring hydrants for a week. 

• With the recent storm the new pump station on Retsof Ave. was not working 

properly. The setting was not quite right & had to be reset, which we took care of. 

• We did notice with the heavy rainfall, in the Retsof area, we did experience less 

infiltration, which is a good sign. We did notify the residents in the Retsof area, 

the Town is allowing 2 years from the start of this project, to disconnect their 

drain water in order to be in compliance.  

 

 

OLD BUSINESS: 

1)Highway Pickup: 

Supervisor Deming reported that we did not receive any bids on July 1st for the scheduled 

bid opening. Thereafter he contacted the Livingston County Purchaser, Ashley Scutt to 

inquire if the Town could piggyback with the County OGS System (Office of General 



Services).  Ms. Scutt did the leg work and sent out emails to 130 companies. As of today, 

we have two (2) bids already back, but did leave it open until next Tues, July 15th. 

 

RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Rose authorizing the 

Supervisor permission to accept a bid to purchase a pickup truck for the Highway Dept, 

with the understanding that the bid must meet all specifications listed and be $50,000 or 

less. Voted on and approved, Yes-5, No-0. 

 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

1)Water Tap Application: 

 a-Connie Cannon 

RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Swede to approve the Water 

Tap Application submitted by Connie Cannon for property owned at 2047 Limerick 

Road.  Voted on and approved, Yes-5, No-0. 

 

*The $1,500.00 tap fees were waived due to the fact that this parcel has been part of 

the Consolidated Water District and has been charged a yearly debt service. 

 

 

2)Town Hall Cleaner Resignation: 

Supervisor Deming reported that we received a resignation letter from Jim Mayes for the 

position of Town Hall Cleaner: 

 

 

 
 

 



 

RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Swede & seconded by Mr. Morgan to accept the 

resignation of Town Hall cleaner Jim Mayes. Voted on and approved, Yes-5, No-0. 

 

 

 

 

3)Petition: 

Supervisor Deming stated that Clerk Harris received a petition from Casey Road resident 

Robert Turner, including a number signatures from neighbors and others traveling on 

Casey Road. The petition states “ it would be in the best interest of safety to install 35 

mph speed limit signs on Casey Road, from Fowlerville Road going north”. Mr. 

Turner did convey that there were signs previously on Casey Road but are no longer there 

and should be re-installed. 

 



 



 



 



 



 
 

 

 

Mr. Worden stated there were signs previously on Casey Road which were unfortunately 

painted over. Mr. Worden commented that we could replace the original sign with a 35 

mph suggested speed sign and further discuss with the Sheriff’s Department a 

recommendation to conduct a speed study for the area. Supervisor Deming asked Mr. 

Worden to follow through with this. 

 

 

 

4)White Creek Solar: 

 a- Agreement for Road Use, Repair & Improvements: 



 



 
 

 

 

 b-Town Board Consent to certain Prime farmland & set back waiver: 

 

Attorney Kanyuck reviewed with the Board the proposed resolution… 

 

Kirk Richenberg- Have the landowners been notified of the proposed changes? If they 

haven’t been, they should be. 

 

Davie Deuel- Regarding Enhanced landscaping, the Board should say no to this until they 

could guarantee with a Bond. To just change the agreement is not right and the citizens 

deserve better. He is very much opposed to the waiver(s). 



 

Councilman Swede commented when he looks at this project, it doesn’t quite make 

sense. He doesn’t like the idea of placing solar panels on prime farmland, but in order to 

decrease the actual footprint of usage of it, he would agree. 

 

Mr. Deuel stated he disagrees with Councilman Swede. 

 

Councilman Smith stated in Exhibit A, they are taking away space, which is probably 

some of the best area to put solar, which he questions. 

 

Joe McIlroy asked, is this waiver request in addition to the other waivers discussed? 

Attorney Kanyuck replied there were waiver requests previously during the permitting 

process. 

 

Councilman Smith expressed that the Board set a precedent early on that we have 

regulations in place that should be followed. We spent a great deal of time and effort 

putting these regulations into law and stated it is a hard NO for him. 

 

Councilman Morgan stated he is in agreement with Councilman Swede, if it can’t be used 

as farmland where it is situated in the middle of this project, he is in favor of the waiver 

as well. 

 

Councilman Rose commented, he does not like the setbacks either but to reduce the 

footprint of prime farmland might be good. 

 

Supervisor Deming stated we will table the discussion at this time in order to have Olivia 

Panno speak with the Town Board further. 

 

Mr. McIlroy inquired as to the difference between a variance and a waiver. Attorney 

Kanyuck gave a brief summary of the two. 

 

Mr. Deuel commented they do not follow through on what they originally agree upon. 

 

Mr. Richenberg also commented, Councilman Swede stated earlier, the map the Board 

reviewed does not look like it matches up.  The Town should not be the one who always  

gives in to requests. 

 

Councilman Rose asked if they are required to start by a specific date? 

 

Attorney Kanyuck responded, it must be completed by the end of 2027. 

 

*Further discussion on the waiver has been tabled at this time 

 

 

 

 



5)Project Budget Modification: 

 a-Retsof Sewer District: 

 

 



 
 

 

 

 

6)Consolidated Water District River Road Ext: 

a-Accepting the Engineer’s Report: 

RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Swede and seconded by Mr. Smith to accept the 

Engineering Report prepared by MRB for the Consolidated Water District River Road 

Extension Project. Voted on and approved, Yes-5, No-0. 

 

 b-Formation/Public Hearing: 



RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Rose for the following: 

 



 



 



 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 c-SEQR-EAF Part 1: 

RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Swede after review of such, 

to approve Part 1 of the Full EAF (Environmental Assessment Form). Voted on and 

approved, Yes-5, No-0. 

 

 

 

             d- SEQR Resolution- Declaring Lead Agency: 



                         

 
 

         e- Supervisor Authorization of EAF: 

RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Rose and seconded by Mr. Morgan authorizing 

Supervisor Deming permission to sign Part 1 of the Full EAF as presented. Voted on and 

approved, Yes-5, No-0. 



 

 f-Lateral Restriction Resolution: 

 



 
 

 

 

 

7)Sewer line connection: 

Supervisor Deming reported that the current Town of York municipal sewer line abuts 

his property boundaries on Chandler Road and stated his request to connect to the sewer 

district at this time. 

 

 

RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Rose authorizing the Deming 

residence at 2742 Chandler Road to connect to the municipal sewer district. Voted on and 

approved, Yes-5, No-0.   

 

 

*(First sewer charge will be October 2025) 

 

 

 



 

8)Town Hall Cleaner Position: 

Clerk Harris stated after receiving Mr. Mayes’ letter of resignation the day after our June 

10th board meeting, we did advertise for the position to expedite any interested 

candidates. Clerk Harris added that we did have one individual stop into the office 

expressing their interest and handed the board documentation from resident Jeff Maggio. 

 

After little discussion…. 

 

RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Swede to appoint Jeff Maggio 

as the new Town Hall cleaner. Voted on and approved, Yes-5, No-0. 

 

 

9)Town Clerk Applications: 

Clerk Harris informed the Board that we have received 4 letters of interest from Town of 

York residents and 1 non-resident letter for the position of Town Clerk. Mrs. Harris 

stated that she has had conversations and/or met with 3 of the 4 Town applicants but now 

stressed the need to get two members of the Board to conduct formal interviews and 

asked who will be assisting her with this. 

 

Councilman Swede and Smith stated they will be part of the interview process. 

 

After no further business… 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Swede to adjourn the Town 

Board meeting until August 12th. . Voted on and approved, Yes- 5, No- 0. 

 

The Town Board meeting closed at 8:24 p.m.  

 

                                                                                   

                                                                                  Respectfully Submitted, 

                                                                                  Christine M. Harris 

                                                                                  Christine M. Harris, Clerk 

 

 


